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Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) submits this motion pursuant

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(a) for a preliminary injunction against Defendants American

eVoice, Ltd.; Emerica Media Corp.; FoneRight, Inc.; Global Voice Mail, Ltd.;

HearYou2, Inc.; Network Assurance, Inc.; SecuratDat, Inc.; Techmax Solutions,

Inc.; Steven Sann, Terry Lane (a/k/a Terry Sann), Nathan Sann, and Robert Braach. 

In support of its motion, Plaintiff states as follows:

1.  Plaintiff brings this case against Defendants pursuant to Section 13(b) of

the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain preliminary and permanent injunctive relief,

restitution, refunds, and disgorgement of ill-gotten assets for Defendants’

violations of Section 5 of the FTC, 15 U.S.C. § 45.

2.  As explained in Plaintiff’s proposed memorandum of law in support of

this motion, Defendants have orchestrated a massive “cramming” scheme that has

forced over $70 million in unauthorized charges onto consumers’ telephone bills

since 2008.  Defendants have channeled a substantial portion of their revenue into

a purported nonprofit entity, Relief Defendant Bibliologic, Ltd., controlled by two

of the individual defendants.

3. Counts I and II of Plaintiff’s complaint allege that Defendants’ cramming

scheme violates Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”),

15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair and deceptive acts or practices in or

affecting commerce.  Count III of Plaintiff’s complaint alleges that Relief
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Defendant Bibliologic should be required to disgorge the ill-gotten assets it

received from Defendants and to which it has no legitimate claim.

4.  For the reasons explained in Plaintiff’s memorandum of law, the FTC is

likely to succeed on the merits of each count
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4 PX12 ¶ 67, Att. 54 (pp. 907-08) ; Inc21.com, 688 F. Supp. 2d at 930.

5 PX12 ¶ 67, Att. 54 (pp. 907-08).

6 Empowering Consumers to Prevent and Detect Billing for Unauthorized Charges.





16 PX1 ¶ 2; PX4 ¶ 2; PX5 ¶ 2; PX6 ¶ 2; PX7 ¶ 2; PX9 ¶ 2.

17 PX1 ¶ 3; PX2 ¶ 3; PX 3 ¶ 3; PX6 ¶ 3; PX7 ¶ 3; PX8 ¶ 2.  The contact information for
all three may appear on the consumer’s telephone bill.  See, e.g., PX2 ¶ 5, Att. A (p. 11); PX9
¶ 2, Att. A (p. 94).

18 PX1 ¶ 3; PX12 ¶ 38(g), Att. 32 (pp. 665-66).

19 PX1 ¶ 3; PX2 ¶ 3; PX4 ¶ 3; PX6 ¶ 3; PX7 ¶ 3; PX8 ¶ 3; PX9 ¶ 4.

20 PX1 ¶ 4; PX2 ¶ 4; PX3 ¶ 3; PX4 ¶ 4; PX5 ¶ 3; PX7 ¶ 4.

21 PX1 ¶ 4; PX2 ¶ 4; PX3 ¶ 3; PX4 ¶ 4; PX5 ¶¶ 2-4, Att. A (p. 41); PX6 ¶ 3; PX7 ¶ 4;
PX8 ¶ 4.

22 PX1 ¶ 2; PX2 ¶ 4; PX8 ¶ 4; PX9 ¶ 3.
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only after months have passed.16  Not recognizing the charge(s), the consumer

contacts her LEC, the aggregator, or the Corporate Defendant named on the

statement.17  If the consumer contacts the LEC, it may issue a credit.18  The LEC

may refer her to the aggregator or the Corporate Defendant, particularly if the

consumer seeks credit for multiple months.19  The aggregator or the Corporate

Defendant, however, may claim the consumer signed up for the service online

while visiting an affiliated website, such as www.findjobsnow-usa.com or

www.lookhere4jobs.com.20  The consumer responds that she never visited that

website or signed up for the service.21  Many consumers neither need nor want the

service.



23 PX3 ¶ 5, Att. C (p. 24); PX12 ¶¶ 33(j), 39, Atts. 28 (pp. 549-50), 32 (pp. 692-94). 

24 PX3 ¶ 5, Att. C (p. 24); PX12 ¶¶ 33(j), 39, Atts. 28 (pp. 549-50), 32 (pp. 692-94); see
also PX1 ¶ 4, Att. A (p. 6); PX4 ¶ 4, Att. A (p. 28).

25 PX1 ¶ 4; PX2 ¶ 4; PX3 ¶ 3; PX4 ¶ 4; PX5 ¶¶ 2-4, Att. A (p. 41); PX6 ¶ 3; PX7 ¶ 4;
PX8 ¶ 4. 

26  PX1 ¶ 4; PX3 ¶ 5; PX5 ¶ 4; PX9 ¶ 8.  All of the LOAs are completed in capital letters,
undermining their authenticity.  PX3 ¶ 5, Att. C (p. 24); PX12 ¶¶ 33(j), 39, Atts. 28 (pp. 549-50),
32 (pp. 692-94).

27 PX1¶ 4; PX2 ¶ 5; PX3 ¶ 6; PX5 ¶ 4; PX6 ¶ 4; PX8 ¶ 8; PX9 ¶ 9.  Refunds came by
check if consumers canceled their phone service and therefore could not receive credit, or if the
consumer requested it.  PX9 ¶ 9; PX12 ¶ 34(e), Att. 29 (pp. 569-70).  Refund checks were issued
to an automobile dealership, a home heating oil company, Union Pacific Railroad, the U.S.
General Services Administration, the University of Indianapolis, medical facilities, and the
Missouri National Guard — unlikely online purchasers of voice mail and electronic fax services. 



28 PX12 ¶¶ 40-41, Att. 33 (pp. 695-713).

29 PX12 ¶ 62.

30 PX12 ¶ 61, Att. 50 (pp. 877-84).

31 PX11 (pp. 112-16).

32 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(vi), Att. 26 (pp. 469-70).

33 PX12 ¶ 63.
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gone to refunds, credits, fees, taxes, and other adjustments.28

2. Complaints to Government Agencies, the BBB, and
Aggregators Corroborate the Consumer Declarants’
Testimony.

Hundreds of consumers have filed complaints with government agencies and

the Better Business Bureau (“BBB”) regarding Defendants’ cramming

unauthorized charges.  The Federal Communications Commission has received 125

such complaints.29  The FTC’s database contains 224.30  The Spokane, Washington

BBB processed 123 and rated Defendants “F.”31

Defendants’ LECs and aggregators also received numerous complaints. In

one month alone, Verizon received 320 complaints from consumers regarding a

single Corporate Defendant, American eVoice.32  The aggregators also received a

steady stream of consumer complaints from LECs, state attorneys general, and

consumers themselves, generating thousands of pages of correspondence among

aggregators, LECs, and Defendants.33

These complaint volumes, while high, understate the problem. Consumers



34 PX3 ¶ 3.  The contact information for Defendants can appear on the consumer’s
telephone bill.  See supra note 17.

35 See FTC v. Inc21.com Corp., 745 F. Supp. 2d 975, 996 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (fewer than
five percent of cramming victims realized they had been billed);  PX12 ¶ 67, Att. 54 (p. 928).  

36 PX12 ¶ 42-44, Att. 34 (pp. 725-26).

37 PX12 ¶ 42, Att. 34 (pp. 725-26).

38 PX12 ¶ 42, Att. 34 (pp. 725-26).  According to ConnectMe, when Defendants and
ConnectMe were negotiating the terms of their contract, ConnectMe agreed to provide voice
mail services at a discounted price because of Defendants’ assurances that usage rates would be



39  PX12 ¶ 67, Att. 54 (p. 926) (“Low usage rates are strong evidence that consumers did
not knowingly purchase the services and were not aware they were being charged for them.”);
see Inc21.com, 745 F. Supp. 2d at 996-97.

40 PX12 ¶¶ 30(b)(vi), 33(e), Atts. 26 (pp. 471-72), 28 (pp. 532-34).

41 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(i)-(ii), (v)-(vi); ¶ 33(e), (h), (j); ¶ 34(c); ¶ 38(d), (f), (i); Att. 26 (pp. 549-
50, 452-53, 459-65, 471-72); Att. 28 (pp. 532-34, 543-44, 546-47); Att. 29 (p. 560); Att. 32 (pp.
660-61, 663-64, 669-75).

42 PX12 ¶¶ 30(b)(i), 33(e), 34(c), Atts. 26 (pp. 449-50), 28 (pp. 532-34), 29 (p. 560).

43 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(i)-(ii), (v)-(vi); ¶ 33(e), (h), (j); ¶ 34(c); ¶ 38(d), (f), (i); Att. 26 (pp. 549-
50, 452-53, 459-65, 471-72); Att. 28 (pp. 532-34, 543-44, 546-47); Att. 29 (p. 560); Att. 32 (pp.
660-61, 663-64, 669-75).
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that consumers neither ordered the services nor knew they were being billed for

them.39

4. LECs and Aggregators Demanded that Defendants Address
High Levels of Cramming Complaints, Eventually Suspending
Billing on Defendants’ Behalf.

Unauthorized charges can reflect negatively on LECs and aggregators, even

if the charges do not originate with them.  Hence LECs and aggregators have an

interest in minimizing cramming complaints.40  If cramming complaints exceed a

specified threshold, LECs often require a third party service provider and its

aggregator to devise an “action plan” to reduce complaints.41  Aggregators can

also, independently of a LEC, investigate complaint levels.42  If complaints remain

high, a LEC or an aggregator may suspend billing for the third party service

provider.43

In this case, the LECs and aggregators repeatedly required Defendants to



44 PX12 ¶ 33(e), Att. 28 (pp. 532-34).

45 PX12 ¶ 33(i), Att. 28 (p. 545).  FoneRight’s suspension letter from ILD indicated
FoneRight had “significantly surpassed [ILD’s cramming] thresholds for four months with no
improvement,” and that FoneRight had “been involved in recent regulatory and media
complaints.  Id.

46 PX12 ¶ 34, Att. 29 (p. 560).

47 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(v)-(vi), Att. 26 (pp. 464-72).

48 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(v), Att. 26 (458-63).  The first draft of the action plans for American
eVoice and Global Voice Mail’s predecessor were identical.  Id.

49 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(vii), Att. 26 (473-74).
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produce action plans addressing high levels of cramming complaints.  For

example, in May, June, and July 2009, aggregator ILD required Defendant

FoneRight to propose an action plan to reduce cramming levels.44  Complaints did

not decrease, and in August 2009, ILD suspended new billing on behalf of

FoneRight.45  Meanwhile, around the same time, Verizon demanded that Defendant

Voice Mail Professionals produce an action plan;46 both AT&T and Verizon

demanded action plans from Defendant American eVoice;47 and AT&T demanded

one from Network Assurance and Defendant Global Voice Mail’s predecessor

company,48 then, when complaints continued, suspended regional billing on their

behalf.49 

In mid-2010, LEC Frontier notified an aggregator that it considered all

charges by Defendants Global Voice Mail and Network Assurance suspect after



50 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(xi), Att. 26 (pp. 491-93).

51 PX12 ¶ 38(l), Att. 32 (pp. 681-85).

52 PX12 ¶ 38(m), Att. 32 (p. 687).

53 PX12 ¶ 38(n)-(o), Att. 32 (pp. 688-90).







65 PX12 ¶ 42, Att. 34 (pp. 723-24, 735-36).

66 PX12 ¶ 64, Att. 51 (pp. 885-88).

67 Sann ended up filing a malpractice suit against his counsel in the PhoneBILLit case. 
See PX12 ¶ 66, Att. 53 (pp. 892-93).

68 PX12 ¶ 60, Att. 49 (p. 875).
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terminated, the services agreement with ConnectMe.65  When Vermont pursued

cramming complaints against VMS, Sann executed an Assurance of

Discontinuance on the company’s behalf.66

Sann has long been involved in questionable LEC billing practices.  He

partnered with Cindy Landeen in 2001-04 to operate PhoneBILLit, Inc., a voice

mail company that garnered cramming complaints.  See Landeen v. PhoneBILLit,

Inc., 519 F. Supp. 2d 844, 854-55 (S.D. Ind. 2007).  After that firm fell apart, id. at

852-54, most of its assets were sold to Sann-owned VMS, Landeen v.

PhoneBILLit, Inc., No. 1:04-CV-1815, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90048, at *6-9

(Dec. 6, 2007 S.D. Ind.), and the court found that VMS owed over $100,000 for

credits and refunds assessed against PhoneBILLit.  Id. at *34-35.67  After Sann

extricated himself from PhoneBILLit, he ramped up his current operation with

assistance from his wife, his son, and his business associate, Defendant Robert

Braach.

2. Terry Lane a/k/a Terry Sann

Defendant Terry Lane is Steven Sann’s wife.68  She is president, secretary,



69 PX12 ¶¶ 4(b), 13(c), 24(e), 28(a)-(b), 36(g), Atts. 1 (pp. 151-52), 10 (pp. 232-35), 20
(pp. 358-72), 24 (pp. 401-06), 30 (pp. 615-16).

70 PX12 ¶ 28(c), Att. 24 (pp. 407-08).

71 PX12 ¶ 30(b)(xiii), 34(c)-(d), 38(a), Atts. 26 (p. 495), 29 (pp. 560-65), 32 (pp. 653-54).

72 PX12 ¶¶ 52, 59, Atts. 40 (pp. 781-83), 48 (pp. 868-70).

73 PX12 ¶¶ 32(b), 34(b), Atts. 27 (p. 517), 29 (p. 646).
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treasurer, and sole director of Defendants American eVoice and Voice Mail

Professionals, and on their behalf she signed numerous contracts and documents

submitted to LECs and billing aggregators.69  In an affidavit executed for AT&T,

she swore that she was president of VMP, that VMP “did not engage in any

deceptive marketing practices,” or “use any sweepstakes, prize entry forms, contest

forms, or other inducements to authorize the billing of charges,” and that VMP’s

“charges are true and correct and accurately reflect proper charges legally owed by

the end-user customer.”70  When high levels of cramming complaints against VMP

and American eVoice resulted in LECs demanding action plans, she responded.71

She earned substantial income from her involvement and participates in

Defendants’ employee pension plan.72  In addition, she was the public relations

representative for VMP and American eVoice,73 and in a proceeding before the

Federal Communications Commission, she urged the agency not to ban third-party

LEC billing because it “provide[s] great value to businesses and consumers



74 PX12 ¶ 21, Att. 19 (p. 329).

75 PX12 ¶ 60, Att. 49 (p. 875).

76 PX12 ¶ 11, Att. 8 (pp. 221, 223-24).

77 PX12 ¶ 36(e), 37(c), 38(a), Atts. 30 (pp. 607-11), 31 (p. 630), 32 (pp. 646-47).

78 PX12 ¶ 49, Att. 37 (pp. 784-800).  

79 PX12 ¶¶ 24(d), 30(a)(iii), 32(b), 33(b), 34(b), Atts. 20 (p. 357), 26 (pp. 443-44), 27
(pp. 616-17), 28 (p. 624), 29 (p. 658). 

80 PX12 ¶¶ 16(b), 17(a)(iii)-(iv), (b), 19,  Atts. 14 (p. 265), 15 (pp. 291, 294, 296, 301), 17
(pp. 314-44).

81 PX12 ¶ 30(a)(iv), Att. 26 (pp. 445-46).
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alike.”74

3. Nathan Sann

Defendant Nathan Sann is Steven Sann’s son.75  He is president, secretary,

treasurer, and sole director of Defendant SecuratDat.76  He identified himself as

“COO” of SecuratDat and signed contracts and action plans submitted to LECs and

billing aggregators on the company’s behalf.77  He has also signed hundreds of

refund checks on behalf of Corporate Defendants.78

In addition to helping manage the companies’ finances and issuing refunds,

Nathan was IT/technical contact for all the Corporate Defendants.79  He paid for

Internet website registrations, renewals, and hosting for several Corporate

Defendants.80  He processed the Corporate Defendants’ billing records81 and he



82 PX12 ¶ 42(b), Att. 35 (p. 719). 

83 PX12 ¶¶ 10, 30(b)(





94 PX12 ¶ 30(a)(ii), Att. 26 (p. 439).

95 PX12 ¶ 32(c), Att. 27 (p. 519).

96 PX12 ¶ 37(f), Att. 31 (p. 637).

97 See, e.g., PX12 ¶¶ 30, 33-34, 37-38, Atts. 26 (pp. 437-500), 28 (pp. 526-53), 29 (pp.
561-71), 31 (pp. 622-42), 32 (pp. 643-91).

98 PX12 ¶¶ 50-51, Atts. 38-39 (pp. 801-25).

99 PX12 ¶¶ 53-54, 56, Atts. 41 (pp. 830-33), 42 (pp. 836-40), 44 (pp. 843-48).
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Emerica Media giving Steven [Sann] management and contract authority as

necessary.”94  For example, the same individual at Emerica Media was the

customer service contact for American eVoice, Voice Mail Professionals, and

FoneRight.95  Another employee of Emerica Media transmitted monthly cramming

reports to Transaction Clearing on behalf of Defendants HearYou2, SecuratDat,

VMP, FoneRight, and Techmax.96  Virtually all of the communications between

the Individual Defendants and the aggregators were from Emerica Media email

addresses.97

Despite handling all aspects of the other the Corporate Defendants’ business,

Emerica Media never did any LEC billing in its own name.  However, almost all

the net income of the other Corporate Defendants ended up in Emerica Media’s

bank accounts.98  From there, other corporate expenses were paid and funds

transferred to Defendants Steven Sann and Robert Braach and Relief Defendant

Bibliologic.99



100 The registered agent for all the companies is Incorp Services, Inc., 2360 Corporate
Circle, Las Vegas, NV.  PX12 ¶¶ 4(c), 7(c), 8(f), 9(b), 10(c), 11(c), 12(b), 13(b), Atts. 1 (p. 151),
4 (p. 185), 5 (p. 208), 6 (p. 212), 7 (p. 217), 8 (p. 223), 9 (p. 228), 10 (p. 234).  In addition to
other mailing addresses, the Corporate Defendants have all used mail drops at The Shipping
Depot, 2120 S. Reserve St., Missoula, Montana.  PX12 ¶¶ 15, 16(c), 17(a)(ii), 26(d), 29(e),
32(b), 33(b), 34(b), 36(a)-(b), (e)-(h), Atts. 12 (p. 248), 13 (p. 257), 14 (p. 275), 15 (pp. 281,
299, 301, 308-13), 22 (pp. 390-92), 25 (p. 425), 27 (p. 517), 28 (p. 524), 29 (p. 558), 30 (pp. 574,
596, 601, 605, 610, 614, 617, 621).

101  Defendants used straw persons — apparently relatives and friends of the Individual
Defendants — to serve as corporate officers of some of the Corporate Defendants, evidently to
prevent the LECs from associating the companies with the individuals actually running the
scheme.  These straw persons had no involvement in the operation of the companies beyond
appearing on formal corporate records or signing documents in their official capacity as the
nominal head of the company.  See, e.g., PX12 ¶ 9, Att. 6 (pp. 212-13) (identifying “Brianna
McLaughlin” as only officer and director of company); ¶ 38(j), Att. 32 (pp. 643-45) (action plan
signed by “Phyllis Tryon”).

102 PX12 ¶¶ 24(a), 25, 26(a), 27, 28(a), 29(a), 32, 33(a), 34(a), 36(a)-(b), (e)-(g), 50-51
Atts. 20 (pp. 333-56), 21 (pp. 373-76), 22 (pp. 377-88), 23 (pp. 395-400), 24 (pp. 401-05), 25
(pp. 409-21), 27 (pp. 504-15), 28 (pp. 520-23), 29 (pp. 554-57), 30 (pp. 574-95, 598-600, 607-
09, 612-13, 615-16), 38-39 (pp. 801-25).
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2. American eVoice, Ltd.; FoneRight, Inc.; Global Voice Mail,
Ltd.; HearYou2, Inc.; Network Assurance, Inc.; SecuratDat,
Inc.; Techmax Solutions, Inc.; and Voice Mail Professionals,
Inc.

These eight Corporate Defendants — all Nevada corporations with the same

registered address, same registered agent, and same mailing address at a branch of

The Shipping Depot in Missoula, Montana100



103 PX12 ¶ 42, Att. 34 (pp. 723-24, 729-31).

104 PX12 ¶ 33(d), Att. 28 (pp. 529-30).

105 PX12 ¶ 33, Att. 28 (p. 528).

106 PX12 ¶ 38(k), Att. 32 (p. 686).

-21-

mail services for all of them through a single contract with Defendant Emerica

Media.103





114 PX12 ¶ 65, Att. 52 (p. 890).

115 PX12 ¶ 66, Att. 53 (p. 893).

116 PX12 ¶ 64, Att. 51 (p. 888).

117 See, e.g., PX12 ¶¶ 6, 8, Atts. 3(p. 165), 5 (p. 193). 

118 PX12 ¶ 57, Att. 46 (pp. 858-62).

119 PX12 ¶ 68.

120 PX12 ¶ 70.

121 PX12 ¶ 69.
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criminal drug prosecution pending in this Court.114  Another represented him

personally in a malpractice suit against the lawyers who represented him in the

PhoneBILLit litigation.115  The fourth, a corporate firm in New York, represented

VMS in the Vermont cramming investigation,116 and the fifth firm, in Missoula,

has handled corporate matters for the Corporate Defendants.117  The transfer orders

121

Pho.-0.0rj
0.0004o3T8rwo Tc -0.e9rloteNf ¶ 69.Pho.-00.01Cou27  Tdandled corpora006 642.6rwo (121)Tj
1Bibliologicj
-0.0001 Tc -077 -2.3 Td
(w 
7.254j
/9.6Tj
12 0 0 12 118. 13.98 216.06 6msiTc -0.0015 Tw.92 481.377 ecI837ddin Mis Bibliologic 13.9no publicTm
Decj9rle3Tw Decj9rle3T87.3 Td
[Tc -0..08 ce.  Bibliologic ]TJ
its EIN arerepresented him)6( in the)ion635 (121)Tj
1 Td o.48 61IRSou22s databas-2.3 Td
(P1Tw Decj9rl230036 Tc481[Tc -0.118501(c)(Tc rleganizin Misj
-0.0001 Tc -0.001 Tw 10.588 0 Td3)]T1Tw455 1377 ec108 87. 







126 The Commission need not prove that each consumer who was billed relied on
Defendants’ misrepresentations.  “[I]t would be virtually impossible for the FTC to offer such
proof, and to require it would thwart and frustrate the public purposes of FTC action.” 
McGregor v. Chierico, 206 F.3d 1378, 1388 (11th Cir. 2000).  Rather, reliance is presumed once
the FTC has shown that Defendants made material representations that were widely
disseminated, and that consumers paid for Defendants’ services.  FTC v. Figgie Int’l, Inc., 994
F.2d 595, 605-06 (9th Cir. 1993).

-26-

likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances, and third,

the representation, omission, or practice is material.” FTC v. Inc21.com Corp., 745

F. Supp. 2d 975, 1000 (N.D. Cal. 2010), aff’d, 475 Fed. Appx. 106 (9th Cir. 2012);

see also Stefanchik, 559 F.3d at 928.  In general, a misleading representation or

omission “is material if it ‘involves information that is important to consumers and,

hence, likely to affect their choice of, or conduct regarding, a product.’”  FTC v.

Cyberspace.com, LLC, 453 F.3d 1196, 1201 (9th Cir. 2006). 

In this case, Defendants caused over $70 million in charges to appear on

consumers’ telephone bills.  Those charges communicated to consumers that they

were obligated to pay for voice mail or fax services that they had ostensibly

ordered.  In fact, consumers never ordered the services for which they were billed. 

Moreover, Defendants’ representations were material.  Thousands of consumers

paid the charges; Defendants “capitalized on the common and well-founded

perception held by consumers that they must pay their telephone bills.”126  FTC v.

Verity Int’l, Ltd., 335 F. Supp. 2d 479, 496 (S.D.N.Y.  2004), aff’d in pertinent

part, 443 F.3d 48 (2d Cir. 2006).  Thus Defendants’ practice of cramming
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unauthorized charges onto consumers’ telephone bills is a deceptive practice in

violation of the F.4] in



127 Four of the FTC’s declarants did not notice the unauthorized charges until more than a
year had passed.  PX1 ¶¶ 2-3; PX4 ¶ 2; PX5 ¶ 2; PX9 ¶ 2.
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reason to expect them, and therefore no reason to try to avoid them.  “[T]he burden

should not be placed on defrauded customers to avoid charges that were never

authorized to begin with.”  Inc21.com, 745 F. Supp. 2d at 1004.  Moreover, the

charges are for relatively small amounts.  As a result, some consumers do not

notice the charges until an extended period of time has passed.127  There are

undoubtedly many consumers who never noticed them at all.  See id. (only 5% of

consumers noticed the crammed charges on their telephone bills); see also Neovi,

2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 649, at *14 (“It is likely that some consumers never noticed

the unauthorized withdrawals.”).

Finally, there are no benefits to consumers or competition from Defendants’

cramming.  Indeed, in addition to harming consumers, cramming harms

competition by poisoning the LEC billing marketplace with bad actors.  See PX12

¶ 67, Att. 54 pp. 916-20).  Defendants’ cramming of unauthorized charges onto

consumers’ telephone bills is therefore an unfair practice in violation the FTC Act,

and the FTC is likely to succeed on the merits of Count I of its Complaint.

3. Relief Defendant Bibliologic Has No Legitimate Claim to
Defendants’ Ill-Gotten Assets.

 Federal courts may order equitable relief against a person not accused of

wrongdoing where that person “(1) has received ill-gotten funds; and (2) does not



128 Relief Defendant Bibliologic’s purported nonprofit status does not preclude the
Commission from pursuing disgorgement of the ill-gotten assets in its possession.  In Kimberlyn
Creek, the relief defendants argued that the district court did not have jurisdiction over the
CFTC’s claim for disgorgement because the CFTC did not allege that they had violated the
Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1.  Kimberlyn Creek, 276 F.3d at 190.  According to
the relief defendants, the Act did not “provide subject matter jurisdiction over claims against
individuals who have not violated the CEA.”  Id.  The Fourth Circuit rejected the relief
defendants’ claim:
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have a legitimate claim to those funds.”  CFTC v. Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, Inc.,

276 F.3d 187, 191 (4th Cir. 2002); see SEC v. Colello, 139 F.3d 674, 676 (9th Cir.

1998) (“[T]he broad equitable powers of the federal courts can be employed to

recover ill gotten gains for the benefit of the victims of wrongdoing, whether held

by the original wrongdoer or by one who has received the proceeds after the

wrong.”); FTC v. Ameridebt, Inc., 343 F. Supp. 2d 451, 464 (D. Md. 2004)

(applying Kimberlynn Creek to FTC action).  Courts refer to such persons as

“relief” or “nominal” defendants.  See Colello, 139 F.3d at 675-76, Kimberlynn

Creek, 276 F.3d at 191-92.

Defendants transferred the substantial proceeds of Defendants’ illegal

activity to Bibliologic, thus allowing the assets to be maintained in the name of

someone other than Defendants.  There is no indication that Bibliologic has any

legitimate claim to the assets.  Indeed, the only thing that Bibliologic has done with

them is transfer some of them back to Defendant Emerica Media and Defendant

Steven Sann’s legal counsel.  The FTC is therefore likely to succeed on the merits

of its disgorgement claim against Relief Defendant Bibliologic.128  See Inc21.com,
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corporate entities have their own substantive business; and whether there is a

commingling of corporate assets.  
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